National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

FORT BLISS MAIN POST
HISTORIC DISTRICT

Fort Bliss
El Paso, Texas

2" Edition
November 2000



NPS Form 10-900 OMB No. 10024-0018
(Oct. 1990)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Registration Form

This form is for use in nominating or requesting determination for individual properties and districts. See instruction in How to
Complete the National Register of Historic Places Registration Form (National Register Bulletin 16A). Complete each item by
marking "x" in the a;i)\%)ropnate box or by entering the information requested. If an item does not apply to the properg%( being
documented, enter "N/A" for "not aﬁ)pl_lcable" For functions, architectura] classification, materials and areas of significance, enter only
categ%orles and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative items on continuation sheets (NP$ Form
10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historic name  Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number Fort Bliss [ n/a ] not for publication

city or town __El Paso [x]vicinity
state _ Texas code _TX  county ElPaso code_141 zip code 79916-5300
3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this [ ] nomination [ ]
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for reg_lsterlr&:q{(ipemes in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth'in 36 art 60. In my opinion, the prgﬁerty [ 1]
meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant [ ] nationally [ ]
statewide [ ] locally. (See continuation sheet for additional comments [ ].)

Signature of certifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property [ ] meets [ ] does not meet the National Register criteria.
( See continuation sheet for additional comments [ ].)

Signature of commenting or other official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau
4. National Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that the property is: Signature of the Keeper Date

[ ] entered in the National Register
See continuation sheet [ ].
[ ] determined eligible for the
National Register
See continuation sheet [ ].
[ ] determined not eligible for the
National Register.
[ ] removed from the
National Register
[ ] other, explain
See continuation sheet [ ].
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5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within
Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box) (Do not count previously listed resources.)
Contributing Noncontributing
[ ] private [ ] building(s)
[ ] public-local [x] district 343 62 buildings
[ ] public-State [ ]site
[x] public-Federal [ ] structure 1 0 sites
[ ] object
2 8 structures
0 2 objects
346 72 Total
Name of related multiple property listing Number of contributing resources

(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

previously listed in the National
Register

N/A 1 (Fort Bliss Quarters #1, NR, 4/ 87)

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions Current Functions

(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
DEFENSE/military facility DEFENSE/military facility
INDUSTRIAL/industrial storage INDUSTRIAL/industrial storage
DOMESTIC/institutional housing DOMESTIC/institutional housing
LANDSCAPE/plaza LANDSCAPE/plaza

7. Description

Architectgral Classification (%?Cg?elg'jgﬁmm nsractions)

(Enter categories from instructions)

LATE 19TH AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS/ foundation__concrete, stone

Colonial, Mission/Spanish Colonial, Pueblo, Italian Yvalls brick, wood, hollow clay tile, metal,
Renaissance limestone

LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20TH CENTURY roof composition shingles, Spanish clay tile,
AMERICAN MOVEMENTS/Bungalow/Craftsman, corrugated metal

Spanish Eclectic, Prairie other _stucco finish

LATE VICTORIAN/Queen Anne

NO STYLE

OTHER/Utilitarian

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National
Register listing.)

[x] A Property is associated with events that have made a
significant contribution to the broad patterns of our history.

[ 1B Property is associated with the lives of persons significant
in our past.

[x] C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type,

period, or method of construction or represents the work of a
master, or possesses high artistic values, or represents a
significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[ 1D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information
important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

[ 1A owned by a religious institution or used for religious
purposes.

[ 1B removed from its original location.

[ 1C abirthplace or grave.

[1D acemetery.

[ 1E areconstructed building, object, or structure.

[ 1F acommemorative property.

[ 1G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance within the

past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
9. Major Bibliographic References
Bibliography

(Cite the books, articlés and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ ] preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested
[ 1 previously listed in the National Register

[ 1 previously determined eligible by the National Register

[ ]designated a National Historic Landmark

[ ]recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey

[ ]recorded by Historic American Engineering Record

Page 3

Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture

Military

Landscape Architecture

Community Planning and Development

Periods of Significance
1891 -1950

Significant Dates
N/A

Significant Person(s)

(Complete if Criterion B is marked above).

N/A

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder
U.S. Army

Primary location of additional data:

[ ] State Historic Preservation Office
[ ] Other State Agency

[ x] Federal Agency

[ 1 Local Government

[ 1 University

[ ] Other:
Name of repository:

National Archives of the United States
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10. Geographical Data
Acreage of Property
See continuation sheet

UTM References

(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)
[x] See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet.)

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Sheila A. Ellsworth, Susan I. Enscore, Patrick M. Nowlan, and Amy J. Woods.
organization_ Land Management Laboratory, USACERL, COE date_ 30 December 1997
street & number_ P.O. Box 9005 telephone_ (217) 352-6511

city or town__ Champaign state_ IL zip code_61821-9005

Additional Documentation
Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs
Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional Items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name
street & number telephone
city or town state zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for listing or determine
ehglblhtg for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act,
as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 ef seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining
data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services vision, National Park
Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Otfice of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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7. Narrative Description

Over the course of its history, Fort Bliss has evolved from a small infantry outpost to a major
cavalry post to an antiaircraft training and guided missile testing center. Today, Fort Bliss is home to the
Army's Air Defense School and the U.S. Army Sergeants Major Academy. The Fort Bliss Main Post
Historic District (FBMPHD) is composed of 346 properties that contribute to the architectural and historic
associations of the district. Contributing resources are organized into seven thematic groups according to
the date of their construction: the Initial Construction Period, 1891-1899; the Interim Period, 1900-1912;
the First Expansion Period, 1913-1917; the 7th Cavalry Construction Period, 1919; the Second Expansion
Period, 1918-1926; the Depression Era, 1927-1939; and the Post World War II Period, 1946-1950. A
descriptive analysis of the resources associated with each thematic group is provided below, along with
the National Register Criteria under which they are eligible. The site development and landscape design
of the Main Post, Fort Bliss is considered a contributing site within the district boundaries and is eligible
under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C for Landscape Architecture and Community Planning
and Development, and Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main
Post Historic District. The evolutionary changes associated with this site are described in each relevant
thematic group. Tables are provided listing the specific resources contributing to each thematic group, as
is a table listing all non-contributing resources. Also included is a map locating the resources, their
contributory status, and their thematic association. The buildings, site, and structures recommended for
nomination retain the integrity of location, setting, design, materials, workmanship, feeling, and
association necessary for inclusion as contributing elements to a National Register district.

Project Location

The main post of Fort Bliss, located in El Paso County in the western tip of Texas and
approximately three miles north of the Rio Grande, is bordered on the south, west, and north by the city of
El Paso, and on the east by the El Paso International Airport. The Fort Bliss Military Reservation with
extensive training and firing ranges, and Biggs Army Air Base extend to the north-east. The entire
installation, including its ranges and airfield, encompasses approximately 1.13 million acres of land in
both Texas and New Mexico. This land is partly owned and partly leased by the U.S. government.

Located on a mesa, the flat expanse of the main post at Fort Bliss contrasts sharply with the
soaring, jagged heights of the Franklin Mountains to the west. Native vegetation, adapted to the desert
environment, included scattered tornillo, mesquite, grease wood, and bunch grass. Little of this native
vegetation remains at Fort Bliss, where decades of construction and use have modified the natural
landscape elements.
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1. Initial Construction Period 1891-1899

Twenty-seven buildings at Fort Bliss are eligible for the National Register of Historic Places
(NRHP) as contributing elements to the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District within the Initial
Construction Period thematic group. These buildings possess significance under Criterion A for Military
History and Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post
Historic District. Sixteen buildings also possess significance under Criterion C for Architecture. There
are three landscape elements associated with this group. These buildings and site elements retain integrity
of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association. Historically, these resources
are associated with the initial construction at the installation. The establishment of Fort Bliss was part of
a larger Army effort to consolidate its smaller posts into larger, more permanent, posts at the close of the
Indian Wars, and to establish a permanent Army presence on the U.S.-Mexican border.

Architecturally, many of the buildings in this group display features of the Greek Revival, Queen
Anne, Colonial Revival, and Neoclassical styles. Defining features of the Greek Revival style include a
low pitched gabled or hipped roof, a wide band of trim emphasizing the main roof and porch roof’s
cornice line, porches supported by prominent square or rounded columns, and narrow sidelights around
the door with a rectangular transom above. Sub-types can be distinguished by porch and roof
configurations. The Greek Revival style was dominant for American domestic architecture from 1830 to
1860. Queen Anne is delineated through a steeply pitched, irregularly shaped roof (usually with a
dominant front gable), patterned shingles or masonry, cutaway bay windows, an asymmetrical facade, a
partial or full-width porch extended along one or both sides, and elaborate decorative detailing. Sub-types
are distinguished by roof shape and exterior patterning. This style was dominant throughout the country
from the 1880s into the 1900s. Colonial Revival style buildings were popular during the entire first half
of the 20th century. This style is characterized by an accentuated front door (normally with a pediment
supported by pilasters or columns) with fanlights or sidelights, a symmetrical facade, and double-hung
sash windows with multi-pane glazing. Sub-types are distinguished by roof form and building height.
The Neoclassical style was popular during the period 1895-1950, and is characterized by a symmetrically
balanced facade dominated by a full-height porch roof supported by classical columns with Ionic or
Corinthian capitals. Sub-types are principally distinguished by porch configuration.'

As these were the first buildings constructed for the installation, they represent the mix of
residential, administrative, and support facilities necessary for a functioning post. Family housing lines
the west side of the parade ground, with barracks, administration and support buildings lining the east
side.

1Virginia and Lee McAlester, A Field Guide to American Houses, (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1986), 179, 182, 263, 266,
321, 324, 343-344.
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Table 1: Initial Construction Period, 1891-1899

Building Date of Original
Number Construction Use
8 1893 Hospital
9 1893 Hospital Isolation Ward
13 1893 Enlisted Men’s Barracks
19 1893 Bathhouse
21 1893 Mess Hall, Library, HQ's Office
111 1893 Enlisted Men’s Double Barracks
128 1893 Pumphouse & Boiler
219 1893 Captain's Quarters
220 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
221 1893 Captain's Quarters
222 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
223 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
224 1894 Captain's Quarters
227 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
229 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
230 1893 Captain's Quarters
231 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
232 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
233 1893 Captain's Quarters
234 1893 Lieutenant's Quarters
235 1893 Captain's Quarters
241 1893 Guardhouse
2009 1895 Wagon and Wheelright Shop
2011 1893 Quartermaster Stables
2019 1895 Forage Shed
2021 1893 Quartermaster Storehouse

2022 1897 Storehouse
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Architectural Descriptions of Buildings Contributing to the
Initial Construction Period Thematic Group

Building 8

Hospital / Administrative General Purpose

The two-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 4,845 square feet. The rectangular building
is constructed with a limestone foundation, brick watertable and walls. The frieze band is embellished
with a brick dogtooth course, brick stretchers and headers, wood mouldings, and metal cavetto moulding.
The building has been painted cream. The building has a medium pitched hipped roof. The building’s
symmetrically placed windows are double hung wood sash with 2/2 lights and screens. The building
originally contained a two-story Stick Style porch with shed roof that circled the entire building.
Buildings 8 and 9 were originally connected by a one-story porch of the same style.

Architectural Style: Greek Revival. Original porch was Stick Style.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Building 9

Hospital Isolation Ward / Inactive

The two-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 968 square feet. The rectangular building is
constructed with a limestone foundation, brick watertable and walls, and has been painted cream. The
frieze band is embellished with a brick dogtooth course, brick stretchers and headers, wood mouldings,
and metal cavetto moulding. The building has a medium pitched hipped roof. The symmetrically placed
windows are double hung wood sash with 2/2 lights and screens. The building originally had a one-story
Stick Style porch with shed roof that encircling the building. Buildings 8 and 9 were originally connected
by a one-story porch of the same style.

Architectural Style: Greek Revival. Original porch was Stick Style.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Building 13

Enlisted Men's Barracks and Mess / Administration General

The three-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 27,553 square feet. The C-shaped building
is constructed with a brick foundation and yellow brick walls. The building was built with a three-story
center section flanked by two-story wings. The center section has a double-pitched hipped roof and gable
dormer with decorative unglazed terra cotta. The wings have double-pitched hipped roofs with shed roof
dormers. Two-story additions were constructed on the rear (east) side of the building’s flanking wings
with red brick. The additions were constructed with double-pitched gable roofs. The end walls have
triple corbelled chimney piers below the roof line. The building’s original two-story wood porches were
removed and new concrete porches with pipe columns and railings were added in their place. The
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building is equipped with double-hung wood sash windows with 4/4 lights. The building also contains
quarter-round windows set within the gables.

Architectural Style: Office of the Quartermaster General standard plan with simplified Queen Anne or
Folk Victorian style elements.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 19

Bathhouse / Exchange Warehouse - Dry Cleaners

The one-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 1,115 square feet. The square building is
constructed with a stone foundation, brick walls and a double-pitched hipped roof with louvered monitor.
Cement stucco has been parged over the entire building. Double-hung wood sash windows with 9/9 lights
and screens are used throughout the building. Three single doors, equipped with exterior concrete steps
provide access into the building. A small fixed awning projects over the main entrance on the building’s
north side.

Architectural Style: Vernacular with Italian Renaissance influence.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 21

Mess Hall, Library, HQ’s Office / Main Library

The two and three-story building was originally constructed in 1893. The building has undergone
renovations and now contains 33,321 square feet. The building is constructed with a limestone
foundation, concrete foundation, and brick walls with a watertable and corbelling under the eaves. The
three-story, gabled center is flanked by three-story gabled wings. The center gable contains double wood
doors with concrete steps, double hung wood sash windows, and a half-round louver set in the gable. The
two main facade one-story porches have been removed. The gabled end walls of the wings contain brick
pilasters, brick corbelling, and triplet of round topped windows. Both gabled ends also contain entry
doors with either concrete steps or ramp. The east side of the building contains one-story building with
monitor situated perpendicular to the main building. This one-story section terminates in a one-story
square building with a steep double-pitched hipped and gable roof. This section has a projecting gable
porch with spindle-work and concrete steps.

Architectural Style: Office of the Quartermaster General standard plan with simplified Colonial Revival
and Queen Anne elements.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.
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Building 111

Enlisted Men’s Double Barracks / Administration General Purpose

The three-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 26,802 square feet. The double-stem T-
shaped building is constructed with a concrete foundation, parged watertable, and red brick walls. The
building was built with a three-story center section flanked by two-story wings. The center section has a
double-pitched hipped roof and gable dormer with decorative unglazed terra cotta and the wings have
double-pitched hipped roofs with shed roof dormers. The end walls have triple corbelled chimney piers
below the roof line. Two-story additions were constructed on the rear (east) side of the building’s
flanking wings. The additions were constructed with double-pitched gable roofs. The building’s original
two-story wood porches were removed and new concrete porches with cast iron pipes and steel railings
were added in their place. The building is equipped with double-hung wood sash windows with 4/4
lights. The building also contains quarter-round windows set within the gables.

Architectural Style: Office of the Quartermaster General standard plan with simplified Queen Anne or
Folk Victorian style elements.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 128

Pumphouse and Boiler / Dental Facility

The one-story building was originally constructed in 1893. The building underwent renovations in 1944
and 1953. The attached wood well houses were removed and the building enlarged to the east and the
north. The building’s original construction materials and treatment (limestone foundation, and brick
walls, decorative brick pilasters and corbelling along the roof line, double-pitched gable roof) were
retained and used for the additions. The original shed roof porch has been removed. The total square
footage of the building today is 3,830 square feet. The building contains double-hung wood sash
windows with 6/6 lights and screens.

Architectural Style: simplified Queen Anne

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Buildings 219, 221

Captain’s Quarters / Officers’ Family Housing

The two-story building with attic and basement was constructed in 1893 and contains 3,340 square feet.
The cross-plan building is constructed with a stone foundation with concrete parging, running bond red
brick walls, and a steeply pitched cross-gable roof with three chimneys. Terra cotta details are located in
each of the four gables. A one-story projecting L-shaped porch wraps around from the east elevation to
the south elevation. This replacement porch is constructed with a concrete foundation and floor,
decorated metal porch supports, and a low pitched shed roof. The building has two entry doors on the east
elevation. The main entry has double wood doors with exterior screen doors. The secondary door is a
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single paneled wood door with an exterior screen door. Cellar access, on the rear (west) elevation, is
equipped with a concrete foundation and double metal doors. Double-hung wood sash 1/1 windows are
used throughout. A pair of small quarter-round wood windows are located in each of the four gables.
Watertable, lintels, and sills are red sandstone.

Architectural Style: Queen Anne

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Note:

Building 221: 3,320 square feet

Buildings 220, 222, 223, 227, 229, 231, 232, 234

Lieutenant’s Quarters / Distinguished Visitor’s Quarters

The two-story building with attic and basement was constructed in 1893 and contains 4,026 square feet.
The irregular-plan building was constructed with a cement parged stone foundation, red brick walls with
running bond veneer, and a steeply pitched gable roof with three brick chimneys. A one-story projecting
L-shaped porch is on the east elevation. This replacement porch is constructed with a concrete foundation
and floor, decorative metal porch supports, and a low pitched shed roof. The building has one door on
both the east and west elevations. The front (east) entrance has a single wood door. The rear (west)
entrance has a single wood panel door with an exterior screen door. Concrete steps with metal pipe rails
lead up to the rear door. The rear entry originally contained a porch, the ghosting of which remains
visible. The original opening has been filled with mismatched brick and the original transom has been
filled over the rear door. Two original kitchen windows adjacent to the rear entrance were removed and
shorter windows installed. Mismatched brick was used as infill. Adjacent to the rear door is the cellar
access. The access is constructed with a concrete foundation, steps and double metal doors. Double-hung
1/1 wood windows are used throughout the house. Pairs of small double-hung wood windows are located
in each gable. Red sandstone is used for the water table, lintels, and sills.

Architectural Style: Queen Anne

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Note:

Buildings 222, 227, 229, 232, 234 3,390 square feet
Building 223: 3,837 square feet
Building 231: 3,831 square feet

Buildings 220, 223, and 231 have been designated as Distinguished Visitor’s Quarters.

Buildings 224, 230, 233, 235

Captain’s Quarters / Officers’ Family Housing

The two-story building with attic and basement was constructed in 1893 and contains 3,320 square feet.
The cross-plan building is constructed with a stone foundation with cement parging, running bond yellow
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brick walls, and a steeply pitched cross-gable roof with three chimneys. Terra cotta details are located in
each of the four gables. A one-story projecting L-shaped porch is on the east elevation. This replacement
porch is constructed with a concrete foundation and floor, decorative metal porch supports, and a low
pitched shed roof. The main entry, located on the east elevation, is a wood door with an exterior screen
door. The secondary door, located on the south elevation, is a single wood panel door also equipped with
an exterior screen door. The area surrounding the door contains mismatched brick. Concrete steps with
metal pipe rails provide access to the rear entry door. The original transom over this door has been
removed and the space filled with brick. The original sandstone lintel remains. A cellar access, equipped
with a concrete foundation and double metal doors, is located on the west elevation. Double-hung wood
sash 1/1 windows are used throughout the house. A pair of small quarter-round wood windows are
located in both the north and south gables. The east and west gables contain two small double-hung wood
sash windows. Red sandstone is used for the water table, lintels and sills.

Architectural Style: Queen Anne

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Building 241

Guardhouse / Corps of Engineers Administration Building

The one-story building with basement was constructed in 1893 and contains 3,100 square feet. The
rectangular building is constructed with brick with a cement parged foundation and watertable. The
building has a medium pitched hipped roof with boxed eaves and a central shed dormer. A full-width
replacement porch, located on the front (west) with exposed brick piers and concrete floor, is raised
approximately 32 inches above grade. Four concrete steps lead up to the open porch. Six slender wood
posts and two pilasters with brackets support the low-pitched hipped roof. Pipe rails span between the
columns. Three single doors provide entry into the building. Cellar doors, on the south facade, provide
entry into the basement. The building has double-hung wood windows with 6/6 lights. The shed dormer
has two 12 light windows.

Architectural Style: Neoclassical

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2009

Wagon and Wheelright Shop / NCO Wives Club

The one-story building, constructed in 1895, contains 1,657 square feet. The rectangular plan building is
constructed with a native blue limestone foundation, coursed, quarry-faced blue limestone walls with a
red sandstone watertable, a steeply pitched gable roof with figured rafter ends, and 2 brick chimneys. The
original stable doors have been removed from the west elevation and replaced with a single wood door.
The remaining opening has been filled. The south elevation contained bay doors which have been
replaced with a single door and clapboard siding. A single door opening has been closed on the south
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elevation. Windows have segmented arches of stone voussoirs with keystones. Double-hung wood
windows with 6/6 lights, screens, and security bars are used throughout. The sills are painted chiseled red
sandstone.

Architectural Style: Vernacular with influences from several styles within the Victorian period.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2011

Quartermaster Stables / Launderette

The one-story building was constructed in 1893 and contains 5,984 square feet. The building was
originally rectangular in plan with a native blue limestone foundation, coursed, quarry-faced blue
limestone walls with a red sandstone watertable, a steeply pitched gable roof with figured rafter ends, and
a brick chimney. The original stable doors, on both end elevations, have been removed and replaced. The
east elevation contains an aluminum storefront door with transom and flanking six-light windows though
the paneled casing survives on the west end. The west elevation now contains a pair of metal doors. The
original windows are double-hung wood sash with 2/2 or 1/1 lights and security screens. Several
windows are now covered with plywood. The lintels are rough-faced flat arch voussoirs, and the sills are
red sandstone. An ornamental sandstone rondo is located in both gable ends. A rectangular, one story,
shed-roofed addition on the building’s north side was constructed with rubble limestone walls. A second
addition was constructed of the same materials on the building’s south side.

Architectural Style: Richardsonian

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2019

Forage Shed / Inactive

The one-story building was originally constructed in 1895. The original building contains 3,317 square
feet. The rectangular plan building is constructed with a reinforced concrete foundation, rough-faced
limestone walls, and a steeply pitched gable roof with profiled rafter ends. The removed wood floor was
approximately four feet above grade (rail car height). The floor was replaced with concrete at grade. Both
the southeast and southwest elevations have large entrances which have been removed. The building also
contains wood double-hung windows with either 6/6 or nine lights and security screens. The lintels are
sandstone. Sills are granite for the loading doors and sandstone for the windows. A concrete horse
loading platform is located across the rail spur on the building’s west side. Additions not sympathetic to
the original building design were removed in 1996; their concrete floor/slabs lie outside the walls of the
remaining original building. Remnants of an abandoned rail spur to the western side of the building
illustrate the transportation system used to deliver supplies.

Architectural Style: Vernacular
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Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2021

Quartermaster Warehouse / Fort Worth Corps of Engineers Olffice

The two story building with basement was originally constructed in 1893 and contains 16,874 square feet.
The rectangular plan building is constructed with a stuccoed limestone foundation with watertable,
stuccoed brick walls, and a steeply pitched hipped roof with one chimney. The building underwent major
renovations by 1916. The original gable roof was replaced with a hipped roof and the majority of the
window openings were altered. The building contains both single wood doors with lights and a glass and
aluminum storefront door. The windows are double-hung wood sash with 6/6 lights and screens. Lintels
and sills are stuccoed brick. Two projecting porches are constructed with steel columns, steel I-beams,
and exposed 2x6 wood framing.

Architectural Style: No style

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2022

Storehouse / Exchange Warehouse

The two-story building with basement was originally constructed in 1897 and contains 11,100 square feet.
The rectangular plan building is constructed with a limestone foundation and watertable, common bond
red brick walls, and a steeply pitched gable roof with exposed rafter ends and two chimneys. The interior
floor level is raised to approximately four feet above grade (loading dock height). The building has both
single and double wood doors. Windows are double-hung wood sash with 6/6 lights and exterior security
bars. The basement contains awning style windows with security bars. Windows are segmentally arched
with double rows of brick. The sills are rough-faced sandstone. The basement is accessible from the
exterior through double cellar access doors on the building’s north elevation.

Architectural Style: Vernacular

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Site Development and Landscape Design

Three historic landscape elements are associated with this group. First is the original parade
ground (District Map, Landscape Element #1), with a period of significance falling within the Initial
Construction Period 1891 to 1899, and the First Expansion Period, 1913 to 1917. The second element is
the row of Officers’ Quarters along the west side of the parade ground (District Map, Landscape Element
#2), significant within the Initial Construction Period 1891 to 1899, the First Expansion Period 1913 to
1917, and the Depression Era 1927 to 1939. The line of buildings along the upper east side of the parade
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ground forms the third element (District Map, Landscape Element #3), significant within the Initial
Construction Period 1891 to 1899 and the First Expansion Period 1913 to 1917.

The landscape and site plan of Fort Bliss was an important component of installation development
from the start. Perhaps the most significant element relating to the “Initial Construction Period” thematic
group is the parade ground. Parade grounds, such as the one at Fort Bliss, were the traditional focal point
of frontier forts. The original parade ground at Fort Bliss, laid out by Captain George Ruhlen in the early
1890s, is bordered by current-day Cassidy Road, Sheridan Road, Pershing Road, and an imaginary line
(roughly) extended southwest from the intersection of Carter Road and Pershing Road to Sheridan Road.

Captain Ruhlen’s first planning priority was to lay out the dimensions of the parade ground and
then give it definition by the construction of the original buildings, surrounding roads and the planting of
trees. Vegetation was added in the form of a lawn covering and trees planted along the edges of the
parade ground. As the focal point of the post, the parade ground was the central landscape component
around which all other elements and buildings were situated. The parade ground provided a good
demonstration and reinforcement of the military hierarchy since the living quarters were separated by
rank. The parade ground was also the site of post events relating to troop drill and training, athletic and
recreational events, military ceremonies and an area of assembly during times of crisis (for example,
during Pershing’s Punitive Expedition against Pancho Villa in 1916). Another function of the parade,
more difficult to assess, lies in its cultural value in terms of military tradition, and its aesthetic merit for
those who view it as the post’s “front yard.”

The defining feature of the parade ground is its openness. To accommodate the uses for which it
was designed, the parade ground needed to be free of obstructions.” Trees have been planted along the
exterior of the parade ground in various forms over the years, but the majority of the parade ground has
been left open. The openness of the southernmost quarter (from Adair Road to an imaginary line at the
intersection of Carter Road) of the original parade was lost with the construction of Hinman Hall in 1954.

It is unknown how much of the vegetation on the parade ground remains from the period under
consideration. Due to a lack of specific planting plans or documentation, the planting scheme of the
historic periods can only be determined from historic photographs (those focusing on vegetation are few),
written records (also limited), and comparisons with what is known about planting schemes at other posts
of the day. It can be inferred that the current state of the overall pattern of vegetation along the periphery
of the parade ground conveys a sense of its historic character.

Because it was so difficult to maintain the various types of trees planted at Fort Bliss, it was
probably difficult to sustain a consistent, dense row of trees either along the periphery of the parade or as
street trees. Drawings, paintings and proposed plans of frontier forts often presented a very formal,
symmetrical layout of trees, often in a double-row arrangement. This ideal organization was rarely carried
out, as evidenced by period photographs. Such was the case at Fort Bliss. Although it may have been
intended to plant and maintain a consistent line of trees surrounding the parade ground, a variety of

An exception to this was the bandstand and flagpole that were placed at the mid-point of Ruhlen Road as it crossed the
parade ground, which were in place by 1904.
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circumstances (lack of funding, insufficient maintenance, high mortality of trees due to the harsh climate)
over time has led to the asymmetrical, intermittent appearance found today. Additionally, there is no
substantial vegetation planted on the parade ground, just the intermittent line along the edges. As a result,
the appropriate openness, well documented in photographs, is preserved.

The buildings, significant both in their own right and as the prime edge determinant of the parade
ground, have always been part of the viewing experience in and around the parade ground. The historic
character was compromised when the flagpole and bandstand were removed sometime after WWIL. With
the establishment of the flagpole at Memorial Circle in 1948, the focal point of the cantonment shifted. A
pump house currently is situated on the island in Ruhlen Road where the two historic features previously
existed.

Monuments on the parade, including the Smith Bliss monument (1955), the Ruhlen monument
(1976) and the POW/MIA monument (1971) are all later sympathetic additions. It is typical for parade
fields on older installations to have acquired more park-like characteristics over time and, more often than
not, this includes the addition of memorials dedicated to people and events associated with the history of
the installation. These can be compatible and non-intrusive if their scale and appearance does not
compromise the historic character and aesthetic nature of the parade or specific setting. The reviewing
stand on Smith Bliss Field was originally constructed in 1945, and it is still used for reviews and military
ceremonials.

A second significant landscape element constructed in this period is the row of officers quarters
along west side of the parade ground. This line of officers quarters is bounded by Meigs Road, Club Road
south to Cleary Road, Cleary Road south to Border Road, Border Road southeast to Ashburn Street,
following the alley between Dickman Road and Ashburn, Ashburn Road to Pleasonton Road north, and
Sheridan Road north to Meigs. Club Road was constructed in the early 1900s, and defines the rear (west)
portion of the area. The row was established over various periods of construction between 1891 and
1939.

This area is defined by the brick quarters, bungalows, Pershing House, and stucco quarters
constructed over time. Other defining features include the street trees along Sheridan Road, trees, shrubs,
flower beds, and lawns around the quarters (the appearance of the vegetation is extremely varied from one
quarters to the next), street lights, sidewalks, officer identification signs, and rear lawn areas bordered by a
stone wall. Rock-bordered curb cuts between Buildings 2020 and 275 are also defining features of this
area. These curb cuts mark the loop that the El Paso Electric Railroad streetcar tracks once made behind
Building 241 and later around Building 275.

It is unknown how much of the vegetation throughout this line of officers’ quarters remains from
the 1930s period of construction or before. Due to a lack of specific planting plans or documentation, the
planting scheme of the historic periods can only be determined from historic photographs from the early
periods of significance (those focusing on vegetation are few), written records (also limited), and by
comparison to what is known about planting schemes at other posts of the day. The vegetation in and
around the quarters of the main cantonment appears to be a mixture of native species and those that have
been introduced to the region, the latter usually needing extra attention in terms of maintenance and
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irrigation. Over the years, many studies of Fort Bliss suggested that, considering the inhospitable climate,
the best course was to learn to use native species. Ruhlen was the first to suggest this, and this suggestion
has been carried out to some extent. It can be inferred that the current state of the overall pattern and
composition of vegetation throughout the officers quarters area conveys a sense of the area’s historic
character. Vegetation is also used to direct and frame views along Sheridan Road. The addition of the
planted median along Sheridan at some point during the 1930s (exact date unknown) is an outgrowth of
the general “city beautiful” principles that were incorporated into the Army housing construction program
of the late 1920s and 1930s.

Captain Ruhlen laid out the initial set of red and yellow brick officers’ quarters along the west side
of the parade ground with very specific intentions regarding the surrounding residential landscape. The
dimensions of the front yards were established by him, and he specified that walks would run from each
house to meet with a single sidewalk that paralleled current-day Sheridan Road. In addition, Ruhlen
intended for the residential areas to be planted with trees, shrubs and lawn cover. Since no specific plans
were provided to detail exact species type or planting location, this has been open to interpretation over
time, and a large variety of species have been planted. Many of the early attempts at planting vegetation
failed due to the plants’ inability to adapt to the harsh climate.

The line of brick officer housing was lengthened and infilled with bungalow quarters during 1913
and 1914. In 1928, a board was formed at Fort Bliss to provide recommendations for future expansion of
the post. This board was named after Lieutenant Colonel J. E. Gaujot, who served as president. The
Gaujot board plan, which elaborated on Ruhlen’s plan, was instrumental in defining the historic
cantonment as it appears today. It based its housing recommendations on the extension of this line of
housing. The line followed a consistent, gradually curving arc that runs from the north to the
south/southeast. It was completed by the construction of officers quarters during the 1930s. This line of
housing, in addition to being the residential area for officers of Fort Bliss, is also important as the western
edge and spatial determinant of the parade ground.

A streetcar line belonging to the El Paso Electric Railroad linked Fort Bliss to the city of El Paso
for over thirty years. This line followed Meigs Road and originally looped around where present-day
Building 239 and 240 sit. When these quarters were built, the loop was moved west and encircled
Building 275. This streetcar line was a critical early transportation link between the installation and the
city. Remnant features of the tracks are evident as rock-bordered curb cuts between Buildings 2020 and
275. Although the appearance of vegetation in the line of officers’ quarters has changed somewhat due to
loss from death or diseases, additions from new plantings, or shifting trends in landscape tastes, it still
retains much of its original character.

A third significant landscape element from this period is the line of buildings along the upper east
side of the parade ground to Carter Road. This area and group of buildings are defined by Cassidy Road,
Slater Road, Carter Road, and Pershing Road, and the intermittent lawn, trees and shrubs that surround
them. It includes those buildings that face the parade (Buildings 1, 8, 11, 12, 13, 21, 111, 112, 113, 114,
115, 116, 117, and 118) as well as those to the rear (Buildings 4, 5, 9, 15, 19, 122, 123, 125, and 127).
The line was established during two periods of construction, between 1891 to 1899 and 1913 to 1917.
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The line of buildings is important as a historic grouping related to two historic periods in Fort
Bliss history. The original three buildings from the initial period of construction are related to the
establishment of Fort Bliss at its present location. This event was part of a larger Army effort to
consolidate its smaller posts into larger more permanent posts at the close of the Indian Wars, and to
establish a permanent presence on the U.S.-Mexican border. The barracks and mess halls along this line
are associated with the construction programs that converted Fort Bliss from an infantry post into a
cavalry installation. These buildings were the product of two periods of significance and, like the officers’
quarters, were an integral component of the earliest layout of the post. Captain Ruhlen also intended this
area to be landscaped with vegetation and sidewalks, and eventually this occurred, although not as
extensively as the residential area on the west side of the parade ground. This line of buildings forms the
eastern edge of the original parade ground, serving as an important spatial determinant. Although the
landscape appearance of this line of buildings has changed somewhat due to fluctuations in vegetation
composition resulting from death or diseases, additions from new plantings, or shifting trends in landscape
tastes, it still retains integrity.

2. Interim Period 1900-1912

Six buildings and one structure at Fort Bliss are eligible for the National Register of Historic
Places as contributing elements to the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District under the Interim Period.
This thematic group encompasses the handful of buildings constructed at Fort Bliss between 1900 and
1912, including the Pershing House (Building 228) which was listed on the NRHP in 1987 as Quarters #1.
Historically, these buildings are associated with the continued development of Fort Bliss as a border
installation. These buildings possess significance under Criterion A for Military history and Criterion C
as part of a significant and distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District. Building 228
is listed on the NRHP under Criteria A for Military History and Criteria C for Architecture. Building 51
possesses significance under Criterion C for Architecture. It displays characteristics of the Colonial
Revival style (see Initial Construction Period discussion for details). The buildings and structure retain
integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association.

The Army began using standardized plans for common building types in the 1860s, a practice that
was widespread by the end of the century. Standardized plans provided an improvement in living and
working conditions and resulted in savings of construction costs and time. Plans often were drawn for
particular geographic regions, the most common ones being "North" and "South." Architectural styles and
building materials varied according to these regions. Structures appearing most often in these plans
include barracks, quarters, hospitals, storehouses, offices, and guardhouses.” At Fort Bliss, standardized

3Cannan, Deborah K., et al., National Historic Context for Department of Defense Installations, 1790-1940, Vol. I,
(Frederick, Maryland: R. Christopher Goodwin & Associates, Inc., 1995), 154; Bethany C. Grashof, A Study of United States
Army Family Housing Standard Plans, 1866-1940, Vol. I, (Atlanta: Georgia Institute of Technology, 1986), i.
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building plans appear as early as 1910, as evidenced by Building 228 (the Commanding Officer's
Quarters) built according to “plan number 243” from the Quartermaster General's Office.

Table 2: Interim Period Group, 1900 to 1912

Building Year Original
Number Constructed Use
1 1904 Base Hospital
51 1904 Post Library
53 1909 Post Exchange, Canteen-Bowling
129 1910 Elevated Water Tower
228 1910 Commanding Officer’s Quarters
(NR, 4/87)
275 1912 Arms Storage Magazine
2010 1908 Horseshoeing Shop

Architectural Descriptions of Buildings Contributing to the Interim Period Thematic Group

Building 1

Base Hospital / Administration

The cross-plan building, constructed in 1904, contains 30,340 square feet. The three-story building was
constructed with a limestone and stucco foundation, brick masonry walls, and slate gable and hipped
roofs. The building’s gabled center section is flanked by wings with hip-roofs. Both wings contain
exterior concrete steps with pipe railings and exterior fire stairs for egress from the second floor. Three
chimneys project above the steeply pitched roof line. The double-hung wood sash windows contain 2/2
lights and screens. The building was constructed with a projecting one-story center porch.

Architectural Style: The building is constructed in a simplified Colonial Revival style.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 51

Post Library / Dependent’s Nursery School, WIC

The one-story building was constructed in 1904 and contains 6,127 square feet. The cross-plan building is
constructed with a blue limestone foundation topped with a substantial cut cream limestone water table,
brick walls, and brick quoins. The central block is a medium pitched closed gable roof while the flanking
sections were constructed with medium-pitched hipped roofs. Four chimneys project above the roof lines.
Original construction included screened 9/9 double-hung wood windows. The building has undergone
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extensive alterations including: smaller replacement windows, additional doors and windows on south
and east elevations, addition of a concrete block and concrete porch with aluminum shed roof and
doorway, and a wheelchair access ramp.

Architectural Style: Colonial Revival.

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History, Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable
entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District, and Criterion C for Architecture

Building 53

Post Exchange canteen - Bowling / Dependents’ Nursery School

The one-story building was constructed in 1909 and contains 2,200 square feet. The rectangular building
is constructed with a concrete foundation and parged watertable, brick walls and a medium pitched hipped
roof. Double-hung wood windows with 6/6 or 2/3 lights are used throughout the building. The north side
of the building contains two large 12/12 double-hung wood windows.

Architectural Style: Vernacular

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 129/Structure

Elevated Water Tank / Elevated Water Tank

The water tank, constructed in 1910, has a capacity of 150,000 gallons. The tank, constructed with riveted
steel plates, rests on an octagonal platform and catwalk, elevated 40 feet above grade with steel legs.
Missile and cannons insignias of the Air Defense Artillery are painted on the water tank. This tank
replaced an 1893 elevated wooden water storage tank located to the north of Building 128.

Architectural Style: Utilitarian

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 228

Commanding Officer’s Quarters/Garrison Commander’s Quarters

The two-story building was constructed in 1910 and contains 5,874 square feet. The irregular plan
building is constructed with a reinforced concrete foundation, watertable, running bond painted (white)
yellow brick walls, and a low pitched hipped roof with exposed rafter ends and one chimney. The
building contains a partial basement and crawlspace. A two-tier verandah is supported by eleven green-
painted wood columns per level. The main entrance, originally double doors centered on the east
elevation, has been altered to consist of a wood panel door with elliptical fanlight and exterior screen
door. Secondary single wood panel doors are located on the south, west and north elevations. Double-
hung wood windows with 2/2 lights are used throughout. Lintels are arched brick. Sills are concrete.
Architectural Style: Vernacular with French Colonial influence
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Already listed on the National Register of Historic Places under Criterion A for Military History and
Criterion C for Architecture

Eligible under Criterion C as part of a significant and distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post
Historic District.

Building 275

Arms Storage Magazine / General Purpose Storage

The small one-story building was constructed in 1912 and contains 298 square feet. The square plan
building is constructed with a reinforced concrete foundation and slab, board formed concrete walls, and a
low pitched corrugated metal hipped roof with exposed rafter ends. A single ventilator is located at the
peak of the roof. The single metal-plate door is located on the east elevation. Two window openings,
centered high on the north and south elevations, are covered with double metal shutters.

Architectural Style: Utilitarian

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Building 2010

Horseshoeing Shop / Officers’ Wives Club Giftshop

The one-story building was constructed in 1908 and contains 1,659 square feet. The rectangular plan
building is constructed with a native blue limestone foundation enclosing a crawl space, coursed, quarry-
faced blue limestone walls with a red sandstone watertable, a steeply pitched gable roof with figured rafter
ends, and 1 brick chimney. Both original stable doors on the east and west elevations have been removed.
The east elevation, main entrance, now contains a pair of metal doors with nine lights each. The rear
door, west elevation, contains a single metal door. The remaining space around the new doors has been
enclosed with either concrete block or wood. A single door opening on the south elevation has also been
enclosed. Double-hung wood sash windows with 4/4 lights, screens, and security bars are used
throughout. The lintels used throughout are radiating voussoirs. The sills are of chiseled red sandstone.
Architectural Style: Richardsonian

Eligible under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part of a significant and
distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District.

Site Development and Landscape Design
No significant landscape development occurred during this period.

3. First Expansion Period 1913-1917

Fifty buildings and three landscape elements at Fort Bliss are eligible for the National Register of
Historic Places as contributing elements to the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District under the First
Expansion Period. This thematic group encompasses the buildings constructed, and the landscape
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elements developed at Fort Bliss between 1913 and 1917. Historically, these buildings and landscape
elements are associated with the construction program that converted Fort Bliss from an infantry post into
a cavalry installation. This event was part of a larger Army effort aimed at massing a large cavalry force
along the U.S.-Mexican border to prevent arms smuggling and to discourage and respond to any hostile
acts against the United States.

The buildings possess significance under Criterion A for Military History and Criterion C as part
of a significant and distinguishable entity, the Fort Bliss Main Post Historic District. Additionally,
twenty-five buildings possess significance under Criterion C for Architecture. Buildings and landscape
elements retain integrity of location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association.

Standardized plans utilized during this period of construction include Enlisted Men's Barracks
CQM-341 (Buildings 11, 12, 112-118), Mess Hall and Kitchen CQM-342 (Buildings 15, 122, 123, 125),
Mess Hall and Kitchen CQM-371 (Building 127), Lieutenant's Quarters CQM-338 (Buildings 201-206),
and Captain's Quarters CQM-337 (Buildings 207-218, 225-26, 236-240). Architecturally, many of the
buildings in this group display features of the Colonial Revival, Prairie style bungalow, and Craftsman
style bungalow. As mentioned above, the Colonial Revival style is characterized by an accentuated front
door (normally with a pediment supported by pilasters or columns) with fanlights or sidelights, a
symmetrical facade, and